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Hancock's Store”, first building erected on the Phoenix Townsite by Captain Williom A. Hancock,

Northwest corner of First (Montezuma) ond Washingtan Streets,




INTRODUCTORY REMARKS

The Phoenix Townsite was selected at a mass meeting of Salt
River Valley farmers held on October 26, 1870, at the country
store of Murphy and Dennis which was located near what is today
the southwest corner of 9th and Van Buren Streets., The valley,
however, had already been settled for several years before the
pioneers finally decided to establish a permanent town in this
area.

John W. (Jack) Swilling and a few companions had come
from the mining community of Wickenburg in December, 1867,
to dig an irrigation canal from Salt River and thus bring water
unto the fertile lands of the valley. And this same group also
founded the original “Phoenix Settlement’, located some distance
to the east of present-day Phoenix.

Almost immediately after the Phoenix Townsite had been
selected, Captain William A. Hancock, a pioneer surveyor, was
engaged to lay out the proposed town. And, on December 23
and 24, 1870, the first public sale of town lots was held, and,
Captain Hancock, having purchased a lot, commenced the con-
struction of the first adobe building, which when completed—
about February, 1871—was called “Hancock’s Store'. It stood
on the northwest corner of First (then called Montezuma) and
Washington Streets, Captain Hancock having paid $70 for that
corner lot.

The affairs of the small pioneer community were at firsi
placed in the hands of three Townsite Commissioners. On
October 20, 1875, however, a Board of Trustees—composed of
three members—were entrusted with the conduct of village af-
fairs. On February 25, 1881, Phoenix became an incorporated city
with a mayor and a city council, John T. Alsap being elected the
first mayor.




PART ONE

First Efforts at Fire Fighting in Phoenix




BUCKET BRIGADES

Almost all the pioneer communities of Arizona suffered—
during their early settlement—from destructive conflagrations.
Tombstone, Flagstaff, Prescott, Yuma and other Arizona towns
and seftlements, sustained heavy and widespread property losses
from fires which—because of primitive methods or inadequate
equipment—could not be controlled. The small and sparsely
settled village of Phoenix was no exception, and it, too, was visited
by several destructive conflagrations during pioneer days.

In those communities where the first buildings were of frame
construction, as was the case in the timbered sections of the
country, the menace from fire was, of course, very great, espe-
cially where water for fire protection was not readily available.
However, in Phoenix most of the pioneer buildings were construct-
ed of adobes or sun-dried bricks. The floors were of hard-packed
earth, while the roofs consisted of thick layers of heavy adobe
mud. These primitive roofs were supported by stout cottonwood
or mesquite beams — called “vigas” — across which were laid
slender poles and on top of these latter a heavy layer of brush.
On this base was then spread the thick layvers of mud. So it can
be readily seen that the only part of such buildings vulnerable to
fire were the base materials which made up the roof.

When fires broke out in Phoenix during the days of its earliest
development, efforts were, of course, made to extinguish them by
the best means than available. Such fires were battled by volun-
teer fire-fighters with buckets, by means of which water from
wells or street ditches was carried to the fire. A long line of men,
with a good supply of buckets, would be formed—stretching from
the source of water supply to the place where the fire was burning
—and bucket after bucket filled with water passed along the line
and thrown on the fire. The empty buckets—to be filled again—
were returned the same way. This manner of coping with con-
flagrations was known throughout the western country, as the
“bucket brigade” way of fire-fighting. It was not a4 very effective
method and only useful to fight small fires.

In the early dayvs of Phoenix, small ditches or “acequias” ran
along each side of the few streets then cleared and in use. It was
very essential that these ditches should carry water, as, at first,
they furnished the meagre population with the only water, both
for drinking and other domestic uses. But as the small desert com-
munity grew and expanded, wells were dug to provide water for
domestic purposes, so that in time each residence in the town
boasted a good well in its yard,

THE FIRST FIRE-FIGHTING EQUIPMENT

In the very early 1880's—perhaps in 1882—the first formal
precautions were taken by the residents of Phoenix for protection
against the ever-present menace of fire. About that year, the busi-
nessmen of the community collected a public fund with which to
purchase some kind of fire-fighting equipment. This plan was
carried out with the result that the town became the owner of a
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small hand-drawn truck, which was painted red and had a row
of canvas buckets hanging on each side, while on top was carried
a short ladder. Several stout poles—each with a strong hook at
one end— also formed part of the equipment and were for use
in pulling down dangerous adobe walls and shaky roofs.

Although the property of the town, the small red fire truck
was kept where it could be most easily reached by the “bucket
brigade”. Most of the time it stood in the warehouse vard of
Goldman and Company, which had been at one time the stage
company’s corral-——on the southeast corner of Center and Adams
Streets.

THE “YARNELL PUMP”

Then came the first notable improvement for fighting fires in
Phoenix—the “Yarnell Pump”. It was a double-action affair,
which drew water from wells or ditches and played a small stream
of the same on the fire through a hose—marking a great improve-
ment over hand-carried water in buckets.

The Yarnell pump was of sturdy construction, with a stout pole
fastened on each side, and, when in operation, these long pump-
handles were each manned by a group of men ranged side by side.
It was operated in the same way as the old-fashioned hand-cars
used by section-hands on railroad work. And three men or more
could find room at each side-bar when operating at full swing.
It was solidly fastened on a low-wheeled platform—about 4 feet

wide and 7 or 8 feet long—and was the personal property of
Harry Yarnell. The latter had bought the main parts of his pump
in Los Angeles, but the actual mechanical work necessary to put
the pump together was performed in Phoenix by Johnny Gardiner,
then the village mechanic and blacksmith.

Like the small red truck, the Yarnell pump was also taken to
fires—drawn either by hand or some express-wagon. The low
wagon-bed affair on which the pump was fastened, had a short
wagon-tongue—nperhaps, 4 or 5 feet long—with a strong iron con-
trivance at the end, large enough for 3 or 4 men to grasp and
thus haul the pump through town. It could also be attached to the
back of an express-wagon or other horse-drawn vehicle.

To the Yarnell pump was attached a short length of suction
hose and a fairly good length of fire-hose. When the Yarnell pump
reached a fire, the suction hose was dropped into a ditch, well or
any other water supply at hand and the pump started. If the fire
happened to be at a private residence, the suction hose was gen-
erally dropped into the yard well, since, as previously stated, every
dwelling had a well in those days. The Yarnell pump could only
throw a small stream of water about 50 feet, but, at that, was far
superior in effectiveness to the “bucket brigade”

At first the Yarnell pump—when not in use—stood under a
small shed on the south side of Washington Street—immediately
back of Ed Trvine's 2-story brick building—between it and what
is today called Cactus Way. The shed had a sort of board floor or
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platform on which the pump outfit stood-—ready for service. It
was later moved to South First Street and placed under some huge
cottonwood trees that grew along the west side of the street—
opposite the old Plaza.

Harry Yarnell was engaged in the business of sprinkling the
streets of Phoenix at so much per frontage. In early days the city
fathers had nothing to do with that phase of civiec betterment and
each property owner desirous of abating the dust nuisance in front
of his home or business place paid Yarnell a stipulated fee for such
service. However, several outfits engaged at various times in the
sprinkling business.

During one summer Yarnell and his wife went on a camping trip
to the Bradshaw Mountains, and, while wandering around the hills,
Yarnell stumbled unto a rich mineral lode which he later sold for
a goodly sum of money and became wealthy. He lived in gayety
and affluence for some years, but eventually dissipated most of his
wealth. Yarnell Hill on the highway from Phoenix to Prescott was
named for this unusual character and serves to keep his memory
alive in these days of fast motor travel.







